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ARCHZEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF CEYLON
Annual Report for 1954

INTRODUCTORY

THE year 1954 will be remembered in the annals of the Archaeological Department
for the visit to Polonnaruva and Sigiri of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II and His
~ Royal Highness the Duke of Edinburgh. The inclusion of a visit to these two sites in
the royal programme imposed on the department the responsibility for the mainte-
nance of the monuments in such a setting that the august visitors and the members
of their entourage carried with them favourable impressions of the sights shown them,
and that the representatives of the World Press who flocked to these ancient sites on
the occasion were impressed by the solicitude of the Government, asan enlightened
administration, for preserving the cultural heritage of the people. This great responsi-
bility, the department can claim to have borne with success, and every officer who
has had anything to do with the Royal visit bore his share of the responsibility with
great enthusiasm, loyalty and devotion to duty.

<9

Anuradhapura of the Prime Minister of Burma and his party, in connection with
which event, too, the department had to bear responsibility for its share of the
arrangements made. Another distinguished visitor was Madame Vijayalakshmi
Pandit, President of the United Nations General Assembly.

2. The Royal visit was closely followed by the pilgrimage to Polonnaruva and

3. The activities of the department during the year were hampered at every turn
by the necessity to consider whether a particular work can be undertaken without
straining its depleted financial resources. The essential work of maintaining the
thousands of acres of archaeological reserves, and the hundreds of monuments located
thereon, in all parts of the Island, left very little to be spent on conservation and
excavation. But the programmes which could not be suspended without detrimental
results to the monuments concerned were carried out at the main centres of archaeo-
logical activity, and work was started anew on a monument which needed immediate

attention.

4. During the latter part of the year, the impression gained ground in the minds
of the public that money/fis not to be stinted by the authorities for the needs of religion
and culture. And as this department can with justification be considered as busying
itself with matters bearing on culture and with significance for religion, numerous
requests have been made to it for undertaking this in the cause of culture and that
for the furtherance of religious interests. Some of these suggestions were quite im-
practicable, hardly coming within the department’s functions ; others were quite
reasonable, and we ourselves would have wished to undertake the works suggested,
were we in a position to do so. We, however, could not give satisfaction to the enthu-
siasts in the cause of religion and culture.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1954
Revenue
5. A sum of Rs. 3,667 -52 was received from the sale of publications, photographs,
picture post cards, maps, &c. A further sum of Rs. 14,900 40 was received in respect
of postal and telephone revenue, interest and rent of quarters. With the miscellaneous

receipts the total amounted to Rs. 18,567 -92.
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G4 CEYLON ADMINISTRATION REPORTS, 1954 [IV—Ebucariow,

Expenditure
ADMINISTRATION
Bl I K. .
(2) Salaries of staff paid from P. E. o .. 166,712 21
(b) Cost of living allowance, S. L. A., &e. s .. 533,797 30
(¢) Other allowances 4 s o 14,604 52
(d) Travelling . e i e 28,124 63
——— 743328 606
Exploration, excavation and conservation X s .. 315,569 63
Publications and Exhibitions i o .o 3 8 22
MISCELLANEOUS
(a) Stationery and office requisites . . e 55 4,193 83
(b) Construction of semi-permanent guarters for labourers, &, 11,489 82
(¢) Library o . i o 4,704 96
(d) Incidental expenses 24 - = 3.525 39
() Grant to Kern Institute e ) 5 260 O
13,387 27

(f) Archaeological Museum s o )
(g) Maintenance and running expenses of departmental motor vehicles 09,492 61

(k) Uniforms S A sia - 924 10
(#) Awards to informants, finders of antiquities .. o 220 0
(j) Photography .. s i o 4,969 66
(k) Egquipment of a laboratory for the Chemist .. = 13,378 58
(l) Holiday warrants A =3 e 7,073 16
(m) Electrie current i ya A 3,778 59
(n) Epigraphy b & i S 3,281 64
(0) Construction of an Archzological Museum at Dédigama G 32,705 22
: 113,374 83
Total .. 1,172,281 34
PERSONNEL

6. Mr. K. Jayatissa, G.D. Arch. (Bombay), A.LLA., A.R.IB.A., took up duties
as Assistant Commissioner (Architect) on September 1, 1954,

Mr. T. R. L. Pieries (E. C. C., Grade I of G. C. S.) took up duties as Office Assistant
on April 1, 1954.

LIBRARY

7. The number of books added to the Library by purchase during the year was
161. Miscellaneous journals and periodicals purchased numbered 225. The number
of publications received in exchange from foreign and local institutions was 162.
The Annual Report for the year 1953 was sent in exchange to all the institu-
tions in the distribution list. The binding of 300 volumes for this department was
carried out by the Government Press.

PHOTOGRAPHY

8. The number of new negatives made was 412 and the number of bromide prints
2,049 ; of the latter, 151 were sold to the public and 38 given free to the press, Thirty-
nine lantern slides were made for the department. One hundred lantern slides were
loaned to Dr. W. Balendra for lectures in Australia and New Zealand.

9. To have the photo department completely equipped a 5" x 4" German camera,
« Linhoff ** with wide angle and telephoto lenses was bought. A start has been made
to complete the photographic albums, which are expecte to be done by the end of
1956.

ARCHZZEOLOGICAL MUSEUMS

10. The Keeper of the Anurddhapura Museum has contributed the following
on the important acquisitions made during the year :—

11. « The new wing of the museum referred to in the 1952 Annual Report has
been wired and the entire museum is now supplied with electricity. The back garden
which was overgrown with vegetation and shrubs was turned into a lawn.
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SCIENCE AND ART] ARCHAOLOGICAL SURVEY OF CEYLON G5

12. ¢ The paintings from Mihintalé (see Annual Report for 1953) were set up
in a model of a relic chamber. Two cross-sectional and conjectural drawings of this
dagiiba are displayed on either side of the model for the visitor to form an idea of the
inside of a ddgédba. Several exhibits have been added. Among them are the following :—
A bronze mahdmeru, 3% ins. in height, supported on the back of a gold tortoise ; a bas-
relief in Amaravati marble of a figure in the attitude of adoration, from Sigiri ;
the figure of a bowman with outstretched bow worked on coral stone ; two minia-
ture bronze images ; a bronze perpetuallamp, with a Tamil inscription on it, all from
the ancient Velgam Vehera ; Latmkavibhii and two Roman coins, one aka, two silver
eldlings and 3 Parakramabahu eighths which were purchased locally. The entire
collection of Chinese coins unearthed at Yapahuva (Annual Report for 1950, page 23)
has been arranged chronologically. Dr. Luther Carrington Goodrich, Professor of
Chinese, Columbia University, remarked that it was a good, representative collection.
Wax casts of the coins (See Memoirs of the Archaeological Survey Vol. VI. p. 8.)
discovered at Devundara were sent to the British Museum and were identified by
Dr. J. M. Walker, Keeper of the Coins and Medals, as belonging to the Kings of
Hormuz.

13. A packet of 125 coins treated chemically was received from the chemical
laboratory. Another collection of 203 coins which needed treatment was sent to the
Agsistant Commissioner (Chemist) for attention.

14. “ Twenty articles associated with the Pattini cult recovered from Mutumari
Davala, Dunumadaldva, have been presented by Mr. T. B. Weerakoon, Divisional
Revenue Officer, Nuvaragam Palata (West). A four-figured bronze statuette from a
vihdra at Monaragala has been loaned to the Museum by Mr. D. Kadurugamuva,
Inspector of Police, Villaviaya. A bronze statue of Buddha in the bhamisparsa-
mudra found at Kalmari near Irinamadu Tank, has been handed over by the Govern-
ment Agent, Northern Province.

15. “The writing of labels for exhibits in the Sculpture Gallery was completed.
An interesting addition to this section was the ornamented perforated window from
Padaviya. Five heads of Buddha figures which were lying in the museum stores
were fixed and pedestals built for twenty-one Buddha and deva images. On either
side of the path in the front lawn leading on to the museum were set up two flower
altars ornamented with the lotus flower motif. These were found at Katiyava, a
few miles off Eppavala. A brown chert pedestal from Kandugamuvakanda was
received from the Warden of the Wild Life Department. A register of inscriptions
and labels for them are being prepared.

16. ¢ There had been a steady and marked rise in the number of visitors to the
museum during the past few years. 1954 attracted 40,057 visitors as against 32,680
in 1953 and 26,884 in 1952, Madame Vijayalakshmi Pandit, Professor Alfred Salmony
and Miss I. B. Horner were among the distinguished visitors to the museum.

17. The building constructed by the Public Works Department for a Museum at
Didigama was handed over to this department on February 18, 1954. The arrange-
ment of the exhibits, however, could not be taken in hand immediately, due to
the delay in the receipt of show cases. Theobjects inthemselves, arranged in show-
cases independently of the positions in-which they were found deposited in the
different chambers, would not have adequately conveyed their significance to the
student of archaeology. We. theretore , decided that models of the two relic chambers
showing the manner in which the objects were deposited should form an important
exhibit in the Museum. The upper garbha is to be shown in its actual size. The
lower one, with its nine compartments, has had to be shown by a model one-third
the actual dimensions. Models made to scale of the principal deposits are to be placed
in the positions they were found in. The preparation of the models was undertaken
towards the close of the year and at the time of writing they are nearing completion.
Mr. A. Devapura, the officer in charge of the Museum, has exhibited his usual deftness
and artistic taste in the preparation of these models as well as in the general arrange-
ment of the exhibits—a work which he had to carry out without skilled workmen.
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It is a matter for gratification that the initial tasks preceding the opening of this
Museum located at the site where Pardkramabahu the Great was born were carried
out in the year which was the 800th anniversary of that monareh’s accession to the
throne as the Supreme Lord of Lanka.

18. The Government Agent, Kfgalla, has very kindly undertaken to serve as
the Honorary Keeper of the Diddigama Museum.

PUBLICATIONS

19. The task of seeing the work on the Sigiri Graffiti through the press made
steady progress. But the period of gestation necessary for this publication to see the
light of day appears to be longer than it was calculated.

20. The department co-operated with the Arts Council of Ceylon in the pro-
duction of a work onthe Art and Architecture of the Polonnaruva period, which is
meant to be one of the volumes of the series entitled the ** Art and Architecture of
Ceylon . The introductory essay was written by the Archaological Commissioner ;
his Assistant, Mr. D. T. Devendra, co-operated in the selection and arrangement of
the plates and the preparation of the descriptive list of illustrations. A number of
photographs was specially taken for the purpose of this publication by Mr. N. H. R.
Nalawangsa. It is a matter for gratification that this publication was issued in the
800th anniversary of the accession of Pardkramabdhu the Great to whom are due
many of the monuments of Architecture and Art to be seen today at Polonnaruva.
Tt was also a fortunate circumstance that this publication was issued just in time
for copies of it to be presented to Her Majesty the Queen and His Royal Highness
the Duke of Edinburgh on the eve of their visit to Polonnaruva. The work has had a
favourable reception from authorities on Indian art in Europe and America, and
the Rt. Rev. Lakdasa de Mel, Bishop of Kurundgala in his capacity as the Chairman
of the Panel on Painting and Sculpture of the Arts Council, has earned the gratitude
of all lovers of Ceylon’s art and culture for initiating the project and the great personal
interest taken in the work by His Lordship without which it would not have been
published on the occasion as appropriate as it was auspicious.

21. The Archaeological Commissioner also contributed an illustrated article
on the recent excavations at Sigiri to the  Illustrated London News . This appeared
a week before Her Majesty visited Sigiri, and was thus helpful to give the royal party
a suceinet account of the place and its significance.

22. The Archmological Commissioner has contributed a rather lengthy paper
to the Artibus Asiae on the significance of Sinhalese Moonstones. Material sufficient
for three normal parts of the Epigraphia Zeylanica has been sent to the Government
Printer,

23. Popular Publications : Mr. D. T. Devendra reports as follows :—

“The Sinhalese guide book to Polonnaruva referred in the previous Report
was received from the Government Printer. This edition is printed attractively
on art paper and has been priced at Re. 1-00. The English pamphlet on Parikrama-
pura (Pafiduvasnuvara) is expected to be sold out before the end of next year when a
revised edition of it will be issued. Though slow, there is a regular sale of the
picture post cards and guide books. *’

ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON THE RESTORATION OF PROTECTED
MONUMENTS .

24. Four meetings of the respective panels of the above-mentioned Advisory
Committee were held, two of them in Colombo, one at Anuradhapura and Avukana
and one at Badulla. As a result of the deliberations, plans were drawn up by the
Assistant Commissioner (Architect) for the four small dagibas on the terrace of
Ruvanviilisiya, a chatta for the Bhatiya statue at the same shrine and for a v@halkada
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SCIENCE AND ART] ARCHZAOLOGICAL SURVEY OF CEYLON G17

for the Kataragama Dé&vale, Badulla. According to a Treasury ruling all plans
supplied for * protected ’ monuments have to be charged for and this ruling was
being put into effect on the first possible occasion, namely 1954.

25. The term of office of the members of the Advisory Committee having expired
on September 30, new panels had to be set up for three years from October 1. The
composition of the new panels remains unchanged, except for Sir Ernest de Silva
who is on the panel for the Western and Southern Provinces. The change in personnel
was caused by the death of Mr. Sri Nissanka, Q.C., whose untimely death is recorded
with deep regret.

ADMINISTRATION OF THE ANTIQUITIES ORDINANCE

26. A number of applications were received from those desiring the export of
antiquities for which, under the Antiquities Ordinance, No. 9 of 1940, a certificate
it necessary from the Archaological Commissioner, Most of the applications werein
respect of so-called Dutch antiques which, in several cases, were peeudo-Dutch chests
to the export of which objection could not be taken. But the time of the certifying
authority is profitlessly taken when imitations and fakes from dealers’ stores are
produced for expert opinion. Some applicants from outstations call for export certifi-
cates, unaware of the fact that the article should be produced for the Archaeological
Commissioner’s inspection. There are also some who act as if it is their business merely
to state their requirements and that the officers of the department are under-an
obligation to come to their private premises or dealers’ stores to inspect the articles,

27. The general public who have now appreciated the fact that permission is
needed to photograph ancient monuments in departmental Reserves, regularly obtain
permits from the office ; a fair number also receive permits in the field. It is gratifying
to note that the instances reported of visitors defying the law have been appreciably
decreasing. A notable exception was in the case of a Sinhalese film for which some
scenes had heen shot at Anuridhapura by clever “ sales talk”. The departmental
guard concerned, however, took prompt action, the parties concerned were brought
to heel through Police intervention, and the particular scenes were inspected at a
private showing before they were passed for public release. In addition to the useful
experience gained, a salutary lesson was administered to parties who should have
known better.

ARCHZEOLOGICAL RESERVES

98. The proper maintenance of the Archaological Reserves at the “ ruined cities ”
frequented by pilgrims, sight-seers and tourists, the care of the conserved monuments
in these reserves and the keeping in proper condition of the motorable roads and
tootpaths leading to the monuments have received priority in the apportionment
of the limited funds which were at the disposal of the department during the current
year. A visitor to Polonnaruva or Sigiri could find little evidence from the condition
of the monuments and their surroundings, that the department had during the year
only one half of the resources which it enjoyed two years before to be expended on
archzological field work.

29. The squatters on-the Archwological Reserve in Polonnaruva have been
persuaded to leave the place, without having the unpleasant necessity of pursuing
with the legal proceedings, taken against them. In this connection, we are grateful
to Mr. C. de Fonseka, the Government Agent of the District, who has allotted
these squatters Crown land elsewhere to reside on. In the enclosed area between the
northern wall of the city and the Alihana Parivena group, the brushwood was cleared
and trees of small girth were cut down as the first steps in converting this area into a
park. It has been a difficult task to prevent cattle getting into this enclosed area,
for the wire fence has been broken down on several occasions, sometimes by human
agencies, at other times by herds of elephants. Several cases of illicit felling of timber
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and trees in the archaological reserves have been noticed, but it is a very difficult
matter to obtain sufficient evidence to bring the culprits to book. There are
considerable areas of uncleared jungle in the Polonnaruva Reserve and, in order to
enable the guards to patrol these reserves and detect illicit felling of timber, a line
was cleared along the boundary of the Reserve, and a number of footpaths from the
gravelled roads to the outer boundary were opened.

30. At Sigiri, the ramparts to the east of the rock have been cleared. The visitor
who proceeds as far as the Lion’s Platform can now see these ramparts from that
point and gain an idea of the planning of the City.

31. Various attempts have been made by interested private parties to get into
their hands some of the ancient sites that are in the custody of the Archzological
Department. When frontal attacks fail, these campaigners adopt various “ guerilla
tactics. Many of them metamorphose themselves into vociferous watch-dogs of
antiquities, and give startling accounts of the acts of omission and commission of
the department.

32. The Reserve at Dimbuligala caused considerable anxiety to the department.
A number of religious devotees attempted to occupy the caves at this site, but were
persuaded to leave without invoking the law. There has, however, been a strange
case of a person professing to follow the dictates of religion, but with no conceivable
claim to belong to any recognised denomination, who insists on giving expression to
his religious fervour by smearing the paintings and inscriptions at the Maravidiya
caves with liberal applications of cow-dung. This destructive activity, he claims to
pursue at the behest of a deity whose special function is to preserve the world.
This person was charged for committing an offence under the provisions of the Anti-
quities Ordinance, but the department’s Inspector had to attend the Polonnaruva
Courts on no less than nineteen occasions to have the man convicted.,

33. The irreconcilable conflict between the demands of religion and those of
archzeology and art in the maintenance of the ancient monuments in the department’s
custody has been accentuated by the enthusiasm at present prevailing for the grand
celebrations planned for the year 2500 of the traditional Buddhist era. The vast
majority of the Buddhists who visit the ancient sites like Polonnaruva desire to see the
shrines treated in the same manner as, for example, the Isurumuniya and the Lanka-
rama at Anuridhapura. Thisis their idea of a revival of the past glories of Buddhism
and, in the prevailing mood. hardly any one appears to bé willing to court unpopu-
larity by telling them that to treat the monuments in that fashion would be tanta-
mount to a deliberate destruction of the evidence which so eloquently proclaims
that, in the past, the Buddhist religion has inspired its votaries in this Island to create
great works of art, so universal in appeal as to transcend the bounds of creed and race.

34. One of the worst cases of ill-informed religious devotion disfiguring works of
art has taken place at Maha Iluppallama. The life size Buddha of marble, in the
round, a product of the Amaravati school, and admittedly one of the best Buddhas
in that style to be found anywhere in the world, which was thrown up by a tractor in
1946, was left on the site as the labourers of the farm protested against its removal to
the Anuradhapura Museum. The image was repaired by tne department, and is kept
within a building erected by the devotees of the place. The authorities of the farm
undertook to protect it, and not to do anything to it without consulting the depart-
ment. When the Archaological Commissioner inspected the image towards the close
of November, he found to his horror that the features of the face had been altere-
beyond recognition by the application of a coat of plaster, the damaged hands red
modelled so as to have all the fingers to the same length, the hair painted black
and the feet also touched up. No evidence was forthcoming as to who was responsible
for this vulgarism, and there is no guarantee that the torso even will escape the same
treatment.
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35. However much we may disapprove of these acts of vandalism, we have to admit
that the motive behind them, or the demand that the Archzological Department,
too, should pander to this type of taste, is a desire to do one’s duty by the ghrines
of one’s religion. The demand to modernise the ancient works of art and architecture
sometimes springs from a motive much less defendable. There are some who argue
that the policy followed by the Archwological Department in its treatment of the
monuments in its charge is a continuation of that followed under the colonial
administration and that, as we are now free from the shackles of colonialism, there
should be a radical alteration of that policy.

36. The purpose of archaological conservation is to preserve the individuality of
the monuments, and not to make them look like monuments is some other country
which have caught one’s fancy. Ancient monuments should not be made to appear
stream-lined like a new motor car. They should be preserved with all the evidence of
age that they bear. All our efforts in the conservation of monuments are directed
towards counteracting the forces of nature and the activities of men, which threaten to
destroy them. Nothing should be done to a monument, whether it be a building or a
statute, that would in any way alter its form as it has come down to us. For this
purpose we take endless pains to ensure that any new materials we are forced to
introduce so as to make a monument stable do not obstrude themselves. If a
monument, after it has been conserved, does not exhibit to the spectator any evidence
that any work has been done on its fabric in modern times, that piece of conservation
can be pronounced as successful.

97. TLecturer Guides. The services of these three officers, who are stationed res-
pectively at Anuradhapura, Polonnaruva and Sigiriya, are being increasingly
availed of by visitors. The popularity of the Lecturer Guide service is further indi-
cated by letters of appreciation received not only from visitors of note but also from
the average man. It is a matter of regret, however, that the average Sinhalese or
Tamil-speaking visitor seems rather nervous of utilizing this free service. With time
perhaps there will be a change of attitude. One of our principal aims is to popularize
accurate information, and this is best achieved through the vast majority of those in
the country who are not familiar with the English language.

ANTIQUITIES OUTSIDE ARCHZEOLOGICAL RESERVES

98, Several instances of treasure-seeking at ancient sites have come to the notice
of the department during the year and the Inspector has had to attend courts and give
evidence in the cases where the culprits have been apprehended and charged before
courts of law. No monument of any significance has been the victim of treasure-
seekers in the cases that have come to the department’s notice during the year,

30. Extensive tracts of jungle have been cleared in recent years for purposes of
land development in those areas of the Island which bear relics of occupation in ancient
days. As the funds for travelling during this year have been curtailed, the
department has not been able to keep an eye on these clearings to the extent considered
desirable, and the information on antiquities reaching us from these areas depended
on the degree of interest taken by individual officers engaged in land development
work. Mr. C. A. Smith, an officer of the Land Development Department with a keen
interest for antiquarian studies, brought to our notice a number of sites containing
ruins in the area irrigated by the waters of the Kantalai Tank. The* Archaological
Commissioner inspected these sites of which none was, judging from remains to be
seen above ground, important enough to be proclaimed as an Archeeological
Reserve. As a result of Mr. Smith’s investigation, a Tamil inscription of the reign of
Gajabahu 1I (1137-1153 A. D.) was brought to light.

40. More interesting were the remains of a Buddhist vih@ra which were brought to
our notice by the officers of the Land Development Department working at the
Siyambalangamuva Farm in the Hiriyala Hatpattu. The circumstances which made
these officers enthusiastic about the protection of archzological remains in the area
of their farm, as narrated to me, are stated below. It appears that a tame elephant
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eémployed for work in this farm, while being taken through an area of forest that
was earmarked for clearing, in a playful mood turned over a slab of stone which was
carved on both sides. It was then noticed that the side of the stone which was in
contact with the ground bore the representation of a figure, human or divine it was not
ascertained at the time. But it so happened that, on the same night, wild elephants
came in force and attacked the tame one of their species which had, with no serious
intent, meddled with the carved stone. It was with difficulty that the marauders were
driven away before they could cause harm to the tame elephant which, being tethered,
was not in a position to defend himself effectively. The same occurrence, it is said
was repeated the following night, and the tame elephant had to be taken away from
the farm to a place where he was safe from his attackers.

41. The men employed at the farm and the inhabitants of the neighbouring
villages thought seriously about this unusual happening, the cause of which, they
were quite convinced, was the disturbance of the carved stone by the elephant.
The figure on that stone, they concluded, must be the representation of a powerful
divinity who has resented being separated from the embrace with Earth that he had
enjoyed for several centuries.

42, The Archwological Commissioner who was intormed of these happenings,
ingpected the site on the fourth day after the receipt of the information, and found
that, though the officer had decided to suspend the clearing of the jungle, the trees had
actually been felled about a week before the day of his inspection. It was feared that
the firing of the felled jungle would cause irreparable damage to this carved slab as
well as to any other remains that might lie buried under the layer of branchesand leaves.
The Archaological Commissioner, therefore, suggested to the authorities concerned
that a sufficient area be left without being fired. The divinity on the stone, obviously,
had no objection to a baptism by fire, for neither he, nor the farm officers, appeared
to have made any attempt to arrest the course of the flames in deference to the wishes
of the archzologist. When the latter visited the site two months later, all that
vegetable matter, which so effectively barred his progress on the occasion of his
earlier visit, had been reduced to ashes, and the whole area containing ruins could be
inspected with ease. The sculptured stone had not suffered much damage from the
fire. The divinity, too, had come out unscathed from his encounter with Agni. The
siteis that of a monastery of considerable gize and importance, datable to the
middle Anuradhapura period. It was decided to have the carved stone removed to
the Anurddhapura Museum, and action has been initiated to have the area containing
vestiges of buildings set apart as an Archaological Reserve.

43. There being many hundreds of sites with vestiges of ancient occupation in the
so-called Dry Zone of Ceylon, it is impossible to preserve all of them for archeological
purposes. In selecting the sites which are of sufficient importance to be reserved on
account of antiquities, one has to base one’s judgment on the evidence available above
ground. A site with unimpressive vestiges of ancient occupation on the surface may
contain important remains below ground ; the possibility of a site that would repay
investigation being left out cannot be avoided without throughly excavating every
site that we come across. This requires unlimited funds, an army of labourers and
overseers, bedsides scores of trained personnel, and is clearly not a practicable pro-
position. The difficulties that the department experiences in the proper maintenance
of the sites that have already been constituted into archeeological reserves do not
encourage one to add to their number without compelling reasons.

44. The Archaological Commissioner inspected the ancient sites in the vicinity ot
the Padaviya Tank, which is now under going restoration, in order to decide the
limits of the land there to be reserved for archzological purposes. On this visit
the Engineer in charge of the restoration work, Mr. H. de S. Manamperi, brought to his
notice two small mounds that would have been levelled down when the work of filling
in the breach of the bund was undertaken almost immediately. Mr. D. T. Devendra
was, therefore, sent to excavate these mounds. The result of his work is dealt with
in another section of the Report.
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ANURADHAPURA : KAPARARAMA

45. The department has been engaged for some years in the restoration of the
Kuttam Pokuna, and some investigations calculated to throw light on the identity
of that impressive pair of stone baths were undertaken simultaneously with the
reconstruction of the larger of the two pokunas. In 1894, H. C. P. Bell excavated a
well-laid out group of monastic buildings just north of the Kuttam Pokuna and, in
the course of this work, discovered a mutilated slab bearing an inscription in NagarT
characters of about the ninth century. This record, which has been published as
article No. 1 in the first volume of the Epigraphia Zeylanica, contains a series of
monastic regulations, but does not refer by name to the religious establishment
with which it is concerned. The first line of the slab begins in the middle of a word.
T# is thus clear that what we have on this slab is only the second half of an inscription.
The first half, presumably indited on another slab, would no doubt have given the
name of the king by whose orders the record was set up, and that of the monastic
establishment whose affairs the edict regulated. At the time the late D. M. de Z.
Wickremasinghe edited the record, search was made by Bell for the missing slab,
but without success. It was felt that the necessity of establishing the identity of the
Kuttam Pokuna justified the undertaking of further investigations, and a thorough
clearing of the site, referred toby Bell as « Monastery A of the Jetavanarama Ruins”,
was undertaken in June. Bell's work was limited to what was just necessary for the
preparation of a ground plan of the site. The earth from the trenches dug along the
outlines of buildings and boundary walls had been dumped along the sides; the
intervening spaces between buildings had not been cleared to the correct level.
Our work consisted in removing the heaps of this spoil earth to a good distance,
and to clear away the debris left untouched by Bell. The entire layout of this group of
buildings has been laid bare. It consists of five prasadas—a principal one in the
centre and four subsidiary ones at the corners— within a quadrangle measuring
174 ft. by 168 ft. enclosed by a prakdara. The central prasida measures 42 ft. by 30 ft.,
with a projection measuring 27 ft. by 6 ft., for the entrance porch which faces west.
Each of the subsidiary buildings is 23 ft. square on plan, with a projection, 6 ft. by
3 ft., for the flight of steps and porch. These buildings conform in their type to scores
of similar prasidas in the monasteries of mediaeval Anuradhapura. The moulded
revetments of the stylobates were of brick, and have left but few traces. The stone
work at the porches and the stone pillars have suffered wilful damage of a grievous
nature. The most interesting feature of this monastery is the cloisters which
surrounded the five prasiddas on three sides : west, north and south. These cloisters
are in the form of galleries 15 ft. in breadth, of which the exterior wall was
the prakare enclosing the group of five prasadas. The revetment of the inner side
of the galleries was of stone; bordering this revetment was a stone-built drain.
The galleries were no doubt divided into a number of cells (parivenas) meant as
living quarters for the monks.

46. A gateway, 15 ft. north to south by 12 ft. east to west on plan, pierced the
centre of the western prakara. Between this inner gateway and the outer gateway,
measuring 17 ft. by 25 ft, on plan, there was an avenue bordered by brick walls,

47. The excavationsdid not yield the missing Nagari inscription, but a discovery
made within a week of the initiation of the excavation fulfilled one of the main
purposes for which the work was undertaken. This is a Sanskrit inscription
in Grantha characters of the tenth century, which contains the name, Kapararama,
The contents of this interesting record will be discussed in the section on epigraphy.
Here it may be stated that this document identifies the monastic establishment just
north of the Kuttam Pokupa as the historic Kapararama, referred to in
the Cdlavamsa as Kappiira Parivena, originally founded by Dathopatissa II
(circa 658-666 A.D.). According to Sinhalese historical writings, Kassapa IV
(circa 898-914 A.D.) founded an establishment named Kuda (Lesser) Kapara Pirivena.
An establishment of this name flourished in the reign of Vijayabahu I. We
cannot be certain whether the group of buildings described above constituted the
Lesser (Kudd) or the Greater (Mahd) Kapard Pirivena, or whether the Kuttam
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Pokuna belonged to one of these two establishments. But the fact that this site,
which is just north of the Kuttam Pokuna, was the mediaeval Kapira Pirivena,
may prove to be significant in finally establishing the history and the identity
of the Twin Baths. The identification of the Kapari-pirivena, which is referred
to in the chronicles as an institution belonging to the Abhayagiri Vihara, furnishes
us with yet another proof that the dagiba now popularly called the Jetavana is,
in actual fact, the Abhayagiri.

VELGAM VEHERA

48. The clearing of the ancient Velgam Vehera (modern Periyakulam) was re-
sumed in March, and was continued until the middle of October, with an average of
25 men. The debris that had accumulated outside the prakdra of the main shrine was
cleared away, so that the level of the ground was restored to what it was in the
eleventh century. Digging was also extended to the area to the east of the mono-
lithic trough referred to at paragraph 37 of last year’s Report. The drainage water
was led away from the pavement of the trough through a stone-lined drain to a
shallow cistern of which the sides were lined, and the floor was paved with stone.
The clearing away of the earth that had accumulated in this cistern brought to light
a Buddha image of limestone, 6 ft. 9 ins. in height, with finely modelled features.
Tt is clear that this object of veneration was found at the place to which it was
unceremoniously thrown away when the shrines at this site were desecrated after
the population in the country-side had ceased to be Buddhists.

49. The stiapa of Velgam Vehera had suffered at the hands of vandals even more
than the image-house at the site (P1. I). It would have been a miracle had treasure-
seekers failed to investigate its garbha. A yawning pit in the centere of the mound
was evidence of the thorough manner in which the vandals had gone about their
nefarious business centuries ago. The original outlines of the ddgiba, as well as of
the platform on which it was built, had been obscured by the debris thrown
about by those who dug into the monument, and by the subsequent action of the
forces of nature. The clearing away of this debris revealed the plan of the monument,
and also furnished us with data helping us to gain an idea of its general
characteristics. (P1. I1.)

50. The platform on which the digiba stood measures 69 ft. 10 in. north to south
by 64 ft. east to west, and is raised 4 ft. 6 in. above the level of the ground. Access
to the platform is on the western side through a projecting porch, 16 ft. by 6 ft.
10 in., ascended by a fllight of stone steps, no longer preserved intact. A doorway
which, too, has been dismantled and removed, led from the porch to the maluva
proper. The details of the mouldings of the brick retaining wall of the malu